IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 96,400 5TH DCA NO: 98-2874

ROBERT WILLIS BROOKS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANN M. PHILLIPS
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0978698
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Robert Brooks (Brooks), was charged by information with one count of committing a lewd, lascivious or indecent assault upon a child. (R 8). Prior to the conclusion of trial, Brooks entered a plea of no contest to the offense of committing a lewd or lascivious act upon a child. (R 64-65, 163). The facts surrounding this criminal episode included the following:

The victim, A.H., was born on September 14, 1983, and was thirteen years of age at the time Brooks had sexual intercourse with her. (R 109, 110, 121). At trial, before Brooks entered his plea, A.H. testified that during the early morning hours of August 22, 1997, she was sitting on a bench on Thirteenth Street. Brooks was riding around in a car. Brooks stopped and told A.H. that he had twenty dollars and asked her to come have sex with him. During trial, A.H. identified Brooks as the man in the car.

Brooks took the victim to his house where they both undressed and began engaging in sexual intercourse. (R 110-113). During this act, the victim testified that she changed her mind and indicated to Brooks that she wanted him to stop and get off of her. (R 113-114). She began to struggle with Brooks when he would not let her get up. (R 124).

Eventually, Brooks stopped and removed himself from on top of the victim. (R 114). At this time, Brooks kept the twenty dollars; the victim dressed, left the house, and went across the street to call the police on a pay phone. (R 114). Later that same day, the victim identified Brooks in a photographic line-up as her assailant. (R 115).

During the daylight hours of August 22, 1997, Brooks was approached by Investigator Esoff of the Sanford Police Department and asked if he would come to the Sanford Police Station. (R 129-130). Brooks agreed, and was advised of his constitutional rights once he arrived at the station. (R 130). Brooks indicated that he understood his rights and waived them by signing a Miranda warning card. (R 31, 130-131). Brooks was then questioned by police concerning his contact with the victim in this case. Their conversation was recorded. (R 137-147).

During police questioning, Brooks admitted he offered the victim twenty dollars to have sex with him and that the two did, in fact, have sex. (R 140-142). The primary difference between Brooks' version of the facts and the victim's testimony is that the victim insisted she changed her mind during the act, informed Brooks she wanted him to stop, and struggled with him until he got off of her. (R 113-114). Brooks claimed that the victim never indicated that she wanted him to stop. (R 144).

On the sentencing scoresheet, Brooks scored a total of 183.2 points, resulting in a minimum sentence of 116.4 months and a maximum sentence of 155.2 months. (R 71-73). Brooks was ultimately sentence by the trial court to four hundred and eight

days (408) in the Department of Corrections, with credit for 408 days time served. (R 69-70, 177).

In providing an explanation for its downward departure from the quidelines recommendation, the trial court stated:

So Mr. Brooks, I'll adjudicate you to be guilty of the offense of a lewd and lascivious act upon a And I'm going to depart downward on the guidelines on the that basis the victim was initiator, willing participant, aggressor or provoker of the incident.

(R 177). The State timely objected to the imposition of this departure sentence. (R 177-180).

The State filed a notice of appeal regarding the imposition of the downward departure sentence. (R 80-81). The Fifth District Court of Appeal (DCA) affirmed Brooks' sentence. In its opinion, the Fifth DCA found that the record supported the trial court's finding that the victim, "a thirteen-year-old girl, a youthful prostitute, willingly participated in the sexual encounter." See State v. Brooks, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1864, D1865 (Fla. 5th DCA August 6, 1999). (See attached Exhibit A). The Fifth DCA noted that, "[a]lthough the victim ... was young, her actions bespeak a maturity far beyond her years. She was out alone at 4:00 in the morning, appearing much older, and looking for action." Id.

The Fifth DCA certified the following question to this Court:

May a reasonable mistake as to the age of the victim be considered in mitigation?

<u>Id.</u> The question was certified as a comparison issue to the one certified in <u>State v. Rife</u>, 733 So. 2d 541, 551 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), <u>review pending</u>, (Fla.)(Case No. 95,752).¹

On August 30, 1999, this Court entered an order postponing a decision on jurisdiction and setting a briefing schedule. Petitioner's brief on the merits follows.

¹The Fifth DCA certified the following question in <u>Rife</u>: Although willingness or consent of the minor is not a defense to sexual battery of a minor, may it be considered by the court as a mitigating factor in sentencing? Should the mitigation also apply where the defendant was convicted of being in a position of custodial or familial authority with the victim?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal incorrectly determined that a minor's consent to statutorily prohibited sexual activity may be considered in mitigation of a defendant's sentence. This Court has expressly determined that the State has a compelling interest in protecting minors from sexual exploitation. Minors are a particularly vulnerable class of individuals and are therefore deserving of a high degree of protection. This Court has recognized that minors are unable to make critical choices in an informed, mature manner. Moreover, the legislature has statutorily provided that consent is not a defense to sexual activity with Since a minor's consent is a legally nullity, it cannot minors. serve to mitigate punishment for a sexual crime perpetrated against that minor-child. The legislature has also specifically provided that a defendant's bona fide mistake as to a minor's age is not a defense to statutorily prohibited conduct. If this Court were to uphold the decision of the Fifth District Court allowing a minor's consent to sexual activity or a defendant's "reasonable" mistake about the minor's age to mitigate a defendant's sentence, the deterrent effect of the laws prohibiting sexual activity with minors would be severely compromised.

ARGUMENT

IN LIGHT OF THE STATE'S COMPELLING INTEREST IN PROTECTING MINORS FROM SEXUAL EXPLOITATION, NEITHER A MINOR'S CONSENT NOR A DEFENDANT'S MISTAKE AS TO THE MINOR'S AGE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED A MITIGATING FACTOR WHERE THE DEFENDANT WAS CONVICTED OF SEXUAL ACTIVITY WITH A MINOR.

Respondent, Robert Brooks (Brooks), was convicted of one count of committing a lewd and lascivious act upon a child. The child-victim, A.H., was thirteen years of age at the time Brooks had sex with her. Brooks admitted to having sex with the child-victim for twenty dollars at about 4:00 in the morning. The main difference between the victim's version of the events and Brooks' is that the victim testified she withdrew her consent to the sexual act by telling Brooks to stop and get off of her, while Brooks claimed the child-victim never withdrew her consent. Brooks maintained that the sexual act was never completed, because he was unable to maintain an erection.

The trial court sentenced Brooks to a downward departure sentence based upon the victim's consent to the sexual act. The Fifth District Court of Appeal (DCA) found that consent could properly be considered a mitigating factor in sexual activity with a minor. The District Court certified the following question:

May a reasonable mistake as to the age of the victim be considered in mitigation?

State v. Brooks, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1864, D1865 (Fla. 5th DCA

August 6, 1999). The trial court, however, never used Brooks' mistake as a grounds for departure. The appellate court began from the premise that a minor's consent was properly considered in mitigation of a defendant's sentence. The court then, in discussing whether the trial court abused its discretion in entering a departure sentence in this case, noted that Brooks reasonably believed A.H. to be older than she actually was. core issue in Brooks, however, concerns the district court's initial assumption - that a minor-victim's consent to a sexual crime may be considered in mitigation by a trial judge. The main issue in the instant case, is therefore, whether the trial court erred in considering the minor-victim's "consent" in mitigation of Brooks' sentence.

Petitioner asserts that, in light of the legislature's policy of protecting minors, their consent or willing participation in a sexual act should not be considered a mitigating factor in sentencing. Neither should a defendant's "reasonable" mistake as to the minor-victim's age be allowed to provide mitigation where a minor is the victim of a sexual act. Petitioner's position that "consent" and "mistake" never apply as mitigators is borne out by the legislature's specific delineation that neither a minor's consent nor a defendant's mistake as to age constitute a defense to sexual crimes involving a minor. See §§ 794.011, 794.021 & 800.04, Fla. Stat. (1997). The State's intervention in the sexual activity

of a minor is designed to prevent harm to the child, of which the child, owing to his or her legally recognized immaturity, may be wholly unaware. To allow the minor's "consent" to mitigate the punishment of the defendant would eviscerate the protection afforded minors from the sexual exploitation of adults.

As Justice Frankfurter aptly put it: "[C]hildren have a very special place in life which law should reflect. Legal theories and their phrasing in other cases readily lead to fallacious reasoning if uncritically transferred to determination of a State's duty towards children." May v. Anderson, 345 U.S. 528, 536 (1953) (concurring opinion). Based upon this reasoning, the State contends the legislature never intended for a child-victim's consent or willing participation to mitigate punishment for a criminal sexual act perpetrated against a minor child.

As this Court recognized in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1084, 1085 (Fla. 1994), and again in <u>J.A.S. v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1381, 1385 (Fla. 1998), the legislature, "[a]s evidenced by the number and breadth of the statutes concerning minors and sexual exploitation, ... has established an unquestionably strong policy interest in protecting minors from harmful sexual conduct." Additionally, the State has an "obligation and a compelling interest in protecting children from 'sexual activity and exploitation before their minds and bodies have sufficiently matured to make it appropriate, safe, and healthy for them.'"

Jones, 640 So. 2d at 1987, quoting Jones v. State, 619 So. 2d 418, 424 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) (Sharp, J., concurring specially). These holdings emphasize the primacy of child protection policies implicit in the law.

It would, therefore, be antithetical to find that the same innate naïvete3 of children which prevents them from being able to consent to a sexual act in a manner sufficient to negate the crime, is nevertheless a reasonable justification for mitigation. minor's "consent" is legally insufficient to be a defense to sexual acts, then that same "consent" is likewise inadequate to constitute a mitigating factor in sentencing. Since the legislature does not recognize a minor's "consent" to sexual activity, a trial court may not utilize a non-existent factor to mitigate the defendant's punishment. The legislature has repeatedly stated its intention that departure sentences are to be discouraged absent circumstances which reasonably justify departure. §§ 921.0016(2), 921.0026, Fla. Stat. (1997). By negating consent of minors as a defense to sex crimes, the legislature has determined it to be legally irrelevant. This Court should hold that this general reason for departure cannot apply to this particular offense.

In light of the State's protective policies, Petitioner submits that the legislature, in enacting section 921.0016(4)(f), did not intend for that downward departure ground to apply to sexual offenses where minors are the victims. To permit consent of

a minor child as a mitigator allows for the possibility of a potentially infinite downward departure. If this is countenanced, it would erode the protection provided by the laws designed to prevent the sexual exploitation of a child. Even though the sexual act would be still be criminalized, with a potentially infinite downward departure permitted, the punishment of that crime would be eradicated. With the threat of punishment diminished, the deterrent effect on adults engaging in sexual relations with minors would likewise be eroded. This surely was not the legislature's intent when enacting the mitigator of "willing participation." Since the Fifth DCA's decision below uncritically transfers the application of this mitigator to minor-victims, despite the well-recognized duty of the State's toward children, it must be reversed.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized three reasons justifying the conclusion that the constitutional rights of children cannot be equated with those of adults: the peculiar vulnerability of children; their inability to make critical decisions in an informed, mature manner; and the importance of the parental role in child rearing. Bellotti v. Baird, 443 U.S. 622, 634 (1979). The Supreme Court has also held "that the States validly may limit the freedom of children to choose for themselves in the making of important, affirmative choices with potentially serious consequences. These rulings are grounded in the

recognition that, during the formative years of childhood and adolescence, minors often lack the experience, perspective, and judgment to recognize and avoid choices that could be detrimental to them." Id. at 635.

Given that minors are uniquely vulnerable, unable to make critical, informed and mature decisions, and lack the experience, perspective and judgment to avoid poor choices, how then are they able to give consent to, or willingly participate in, a sexual act? Allowing for consent to mitigate the sentence of a defendant guilty of engaging in sexual acts with a minor provides the precise "smoke screen" Justice Kogan wrote about in Jones v. State, 640 So. 2d at In Jones, Justice Kogan stated he feared "an uncritical 1088. acceptance of the notion that youths 'consenting' to sexual activity w[ould] merely create a convenient smoke screen for a predatory exploitation of children and young adolescents." Id. A determination that minor-children, who lack the experience and perspective to avoid injurious choices, can give true consent to a sexual act, despite the exploitative effect upon them, is counterintuitive. It would be contradictory for this Court to find, on the one hand, that children lack the decision-making skills of an adult, and then give the same weight to a child's "consent" to sexual activity that is given to a comparable choice made by an adult.

The Fifth DCA has previously noted how difficult it would be

to define "consent" when the "consenting" party is a child.

It should by now be clear through experience, as recognized in Jones, that there is no constitutionally protected right to the defense of consent when any person commits a lewd act on a minor. The difficulty of defining exactly what "consent" consists of when the "consenting" party is a child, what might be deemed the communication "consent" by a minor, how a minor would be expected (or required) to lack of consent and communicate determining the earliest age at which "consent" would be valid are just some of the obvious reasons why the legislature has determined this defense cannot apply in such cases. [emphasis in original]

State v. Raleigh, 686 So. 2d 621, 623 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). In her dissenting opinion in Rife, Judge Griffin again noted the difficulty that exists in determining what exactly constitutes "willing participation" on the part of a minor-victim. Rife, 733 So. 2d 541, 545 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)(Griffin, J., review pending, (Fla.) (Case dissenting), No. 95,752). Additionally, Judge Griffin stated, if "willing participant" was a valid ground for departure, so, too, were the other categories listed in subsection (4)(f): initiator, aggressor and provoker. The notion that a minor could "provoke" an adult into conducting a sex act with the minor is at complete variance with the legislative intent of protecting children from the sexual exploitation of adults. Id.

The Fifth DCA was correct when it held in State v. Smith, 668 So. 2d 639, 644 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996), receded from, State v. Rife, 733 So. 2d 541 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999), review pending, (Fla.) (Case No. 95,752), that it would be "inconceivable that the key feature of this criminal statute, i.e. irrelevancy of the child's consent to sex, would nevertheless be a basis to disregard the statutorily prescribed penalty for its commission." See also, State v. Scaife, 676 So. 2d 1035 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996)(fact that defendant and minor-victim were involved in dating situation and were, by inference, engaged in a consensual sexual relationship is of no consequence and did not support a downward departure sentence).

The Second DCA cited to <u>Smith</u> and <u>Scaife</u> in deciding <u>State v. Whiting</u>, 711 So. 2d 1212 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) and <u>State v. Harrell</u>, 691 So. 2d 46 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). <u>Whiting</u> involved a defendant in custodial or familial authority over his victim. The district court found that "[t]o consider consent as a mitigating factor in this instance would be particularly egregious, since illicit sexual activity with a child over whom one has an official position of authority is a crime, regardless of the 'willingness or consent' of the child." <u>State v. Whiting</u>, 711 so. 2d at 1214. <u>See also</u>, <u>State v. Hoffman</u>, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2037 (Fla. 2d DCA September 3, 1999)(consent to sexual activity given by an eleven-year-old can never serve to mitigate a sentence). These decisions accurately reflect the legislative intent of protecting minors from the poor

choices they may make based upon their youth and inexperience. Allowing a downward departure sentence to be based upon a minor's supposed consent would amount to rewarding the defendant for exploiting a vulnerable victim.

Also, if this Court were to permit a minor's consent to sexual activity to mitigate a defendant's sentence, then the sentencing hearing of that defendant could be turned into a "mini-trial" of the child-victim to determine if he or she was "unwilling" enough to prevent the application of the mitigator in that case. See State v. Rife, 733 So. 2d at 547, (Griffin, J., dissenting opinion). Sentencing would then constitute a "balancing of the comparable morality and/or worth of the victim and the defendant," rather than focusing on the protection of children. See State v. Brooks, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D1865, (Thompson, J., dissenting opinion).

Clearly, allowing for the consent or willing participation of a minor child in sexual activity to act as a mitigator would create a slippery slope of an unthinkable magnitude. The statutory protections afforded children have been set in place by the legislature to prevent the sexual exploitation of children. That protection should be applied consistently throughout the judicial process, including the sentencing phase.

Brooks' sexual activity with the minor-victim in the instant case capitalized upon her vulnerability. The victim was a

thirteen-year-old prostitute, out at 4:00 in the morning. child-prostitute acceded to perform a sexual act with Brooks, age 53, for twenty dollars. These facts, rather than "bespeaking a maturity far beyond her years" as suggested by Judge Harris, instead demonstrate that A.H. was far too young to understand the far-reaching implications of her "choices." State v. Brooks, 24 Fla. L. Weekly at D1865. More likely, the truth is akin to Judge Thompson's supposition that there must have been severe family dysfunction or other powerful circumstances that made prostitution an acceptable lifestyle for this thirteen-year-old. Id. allow Brooks to escape severe punishment for having sex with a minor, because she was too young to realize the impact of her decision or because nature matured A.H. more quickly than other teen-agers, would only serve to further exploit A.H. - this time at the hands of the judicial system itself. Brooks' belief as to A.H.'s age should not be the focus of the judicial system; the effect of sexual exploitation upon the child-victim should instead be the focus.

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