IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DCA CASE NO. 98-2874
CASE NO. 96,400

ROBERT WILLIS BROOKS,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S MERIT BRIEF

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROSEMARIE FARRELL ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar Number 0101907 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 Phone: (904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in imposing a downward departure sentence. The Petitioner argues that because consent and mistake as to age of the partner have been determined not to be defenses to the crime of sexual activity with a minor, that the legislature must also have intended that these factors could not be considerations in mitigation of sentence. The State makes this argument, notwithstanding the plain language of Section 921.0016 (4)(f) (1993), and the fact that others among the statutory mitigators at sentencing, are not available as defenses to crimes.

The trial court properly departed because while a victim's "willing participation" is not a defense to a crime under Section 800.04(3), Florida Statutes, a trial court may still consider this factor in determining whether a downward departure sentence is warranted. Here, the record firmly supports the presence of this mitigating factor and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in its sentencing of the Respondent. Furthermore, careful consideration of both sides of the public policy arguments concerning what best protects children, should convince this Honorable Court that a sentencing court must retain the ability to consider the active role of the child in her own demise in fashioning an appropriate sentence of the adult defendant.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE'S DISCRETION TO DOWNWARDLY DEPART IN SENTENCING AN ADULT FOR SEXUAL CONDUCT WITH A MINOR BASED UPON THE MINOR'S INITIATION OR WILLING PARTICIPATION IS CONSISTENT WITH THE INTENT OF THE LAW, AND PUBLIC POLICY.

The trial court correctly imposed a downward departure sentence based upon valid reasons. A court may impose a departure sentence upon factors which are reasonably justified and are established by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Chandler*, 668 So.2d 1087, 1088 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Fla. Stat., Section 921.001(6) (1997). The task of an appellate court is only to review these factors and to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion. *Id.* In the instant case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal correctly found that (1) the record fully supported the trial court finding that the youthful prostitute had willingly participated in the consensual encounter, and (2) the trial court did not abuse its discretion is determining whether to give weight, and how much weight to give to this consent, based upon the facts in evidence before it. *State v. Brooks*.

The trial court imposed a downward departure sentence stating the following reason for mitigation: that the victim was an initiator, willing participant, aggressor or provoker of the incident. Section 921.0016 (4)(f), Florida Statutes (1997)

authorized this as a valid reason for departure. The Petitioner contends, as it did below, that this reason for departure is invalid in the context of the instant case because the legislature has provided that the victim's consent is not a valid defense to Section 800.04(3).² The State concludes that the victim's consent cannot therefore be considered by a sentencing court as a valid reason for mitigating a sentence. The State is incorrect.

Citing to Justice Frankfurter's concurring opinion in *May v. Anderson*, 345 U.S. 528, 536 (1953), the Petitioner cautions that legal theories and language in other cases must be applied to situations involving children with considered care. Yet, the State is guilty of that very fallacious reasoning and uncritical application of legal theories that it cautions against in its argument that a factor cannot mitigate sentence unless it can be used as a defense, and that furthermore, a factor which cannot be used as a defense is a "legal nullity"-- indeed, it is not even a fact. The State's suggestion that taking account of the child's role in the incident somehow abandons the State's policy of protection of children is without logical, analytical or

²The State was careful to charge the crime as subsection (3) as opposed to subsection (4), the latter which provides that the lewd and lascivious act must be "knowingly" committed on a child. This latter subsection may have afforded a defense based upon the facts of this case. *See* Fla. Stat., Section 800.04 (4) (1997).

documentary basis. Its treatment of crime and punishment, as well as its treatment of victimization and its consequences, confuse cause and effect. In *State v. Rife*, the Fifth District Court of Appeal addressed this brand of reasoning:

We find that a logic which holds that because consent may not be a defense, it cannot be a mitigator does not compute. A does not equal B nor is something true of A necessarily true of B. Defenses to a criminal charge and factors to be considered in mitigation are apples and oranges. Indeed, if consent were a defense to this criminal charge, there would be no need to mitigate in this instance. Although remorse is never a defense to a criminal charge, the legislature has made it a mitigating factor to be considered by the judge. Likewise, the legislature has made the willing participation of the victim a mitigating factor. And the legislature did not limit the applicability of this factor, as does the dissent, to only those victims "of age."

24 Fla. L. Weekly at D747. The State's argument confuses the sexual act itself, with the damage caused by sexual abuse which, as pointed out in Judge Thompson's dissenting opinion, likely predated this incident.³ *State v. Brooks.*

³"According to several studies, girl-children who have been sexually abused or raped are much more likely to become prostitutes than girl-children who have not been subjected to such manhandling. In one study 65 percent of adolescent prostitutes were forced into sexual activities as children; 57 percent had been raped, and one-third of those had been raped more than once. (FN omitted) These studies also suggest that girl-children who have been rewarded for entering into sexual relations with their fathers, brothers, uncles, neighbors, and so on are even more prone than girl-children who have been forced into such relations to enter the life of prostitution. (FN omitted)" ROSEMARIE TONG, WOMEN, SEX, AND THE LAW 52-53 (1984).

More than a third of all women are victims of child sexual abuse. CATHARINE A. MACKINNON, FEMINISM UNMODIFIED, DISCOURSES ON LIFE AND LAW 184 (1987).

A.H., the thirteen-year-old prostitute who "hooked" the Respondent in the case *sub judice*, lived in a house in Sanford with her mom, her brother and her sister. (R 110) Her single-parent mother was employed as the custodian at an elementary school and probably worked nights. (R 108) This might explain how her thirteen-year-old daughter could be street-walking, "turning tricks" between 4 and 5 a.m. on a Saturday morning, *even if it does not explain why*. There is no record support for the notion that the child's prostitution was for any reason except profit. When the Respondent demanded his money back from A.H. because he did not get satisfaction the prostitute said, "You gonna take your twenty dollars back?" (R 146) She then got dressed, gave him his twenty dollars back and went across the street to a store where she called the police from a pay phone to say that she had been sexually assaulted. (R 114-115, 142-143)

After the State rested its case, the trial court stated that this was "the most mitigated level seven that I ever heard of" and the assistant state attorney agreed. (R 159) Neither force nor seduction (by the defendant) were in issue: the girl had prostituted herself. The defendant went as requested to the police department, waived counsel, and gave a taped statement, in which he spoke freely and completely about the incident. The transcript of the dialogue reflects that the defendant was clueless regarding the "woman's" actual age, and horrified upon

learning of it. The defendant pled no-contest without agreement as to sentence.

In her dissenting opinion in *State v. Rife*, Judge Griffin was concerned about the difficulty in determining just what would constitute "willing participation" in a sexual act with an adult in a position of familial or custodial authority on the part of a dependant minor-child victim. Although the Petitioner relies upon the "slippery slope" reasoning of Judge Griffin's dissent in *Rife*, that case is distinguishable from the instant case in several ways. The seventeen-year old dependant victim in *Rife*, had the maturity level of a ten or eleven-year-old, and was in love with her adult guardian. Although the victim in *Rife*, was more vulnerable by virtue of her inferior mental age, her infatuation, and her dependancy upon her sexual partner, the Fifth District still felt that the factual basis for mitigation based upon consent supported the trial court's downward departure. State v. Rife. In the instant case, the thirteen-year-old child-prostitute approached the Respondent, and they made a bargain to exchange sex for money. The trial court and appellate courts both found that A.H. was mature beyond her years, and she and her bystander client had not previously known each other. The record also reflects as the Fifth District Court observed, that by intentionally committing the crime of purchasing the services of a prostitute, the Respondent had unknowingly committed the greater offense of a lewd and lascivious act on a child. *State v. Brooks*. To the extent that Judge

Griffin's dissent in *Rife* can be applied to the case *sub judice*, the Respondent respectfully suggests that it is possible to recognize the fact of consent when one sees it, and it is present in *State v. Brooks*.

The instant case is also distinguishable from the case of the drug-addicted child who sold sex to a police officer in *State v. Johns*, 576 So.2d 1332 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). *See also State v. Whiting*, 711 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998). Nor was the instant case comparable to the thirteen-year-old who engaged in sex with two other minor friends before having consensual sex with one of the friend's adult brother, upon whom she had a crush. *See State v. Smith*, 668 So.2d 639 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996). Furthermore, in the past year in both *Rife* and *Brooks* the Fifth District Court of Appeal has formally receded from its previous holding that because consent was irrelevant as a defense to sexual activity with a minor, it could not furnish a basis for downward sentencing departure. *See State v. Smith*; *State v. Scaife*, 676 So.2d 1035 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) *and also State v. Harrell*, 691 So.2d 46 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

The State's argument that a court's discretion to downwardly depart in sentencing a defendant for sexual battery of a minor based upon facts before him which show that the minor initiated or provoked the incident, is contrary to public policy which seeks to protect children, is terribly misguided. To approach child

protection by carrying out a crusade to incarcerate all of the world's would-be "johns," is like attempting to fish by extracting all of the water from the sea.

The child from the middle-class home that is street-walking at 5:00 a.m. on a Saturday, "passing" as an adult, allowing men to take turns with her for twenty dollars each, will not be protected by slamming the prison gate on her individual clients. Harsher sanctions upon defendants such as the Respondent in the case *sub* judice who the record reflects unwittingly engaged in sex with a minor, will not give back children such as this victim, her childhood or her self-respect. It will not cure the life-disfiguring, sexually transmitted diseases she will contract and spread, the unwanted pregnancies and children she will produce. The Respondent does not attempt to argue that the child prostitute in the instant case is not a victim. Instead the Respondent argues that the self-victimization *initiated* and *provoked* by this child is in no way assuaged by the stiff punishment meted out to the adult who had sex with her. On the facts in this case, a non-mitigated sentence would send a message to this child that no matter what you do or say, there is no possibility that you will have to take any responsibility for what happens.

Public policy rightfully places a very high priority upon the protection of children. Society's promise to protect the child-victim in the instant case had already been broken by the time we meet her in this record. The Respondent argues that to

tell this child that she can be protected from her own self-destructive behavior is to perpetrate another dangerous, false promise.

The public policy which exacts strict criminal liability for sexual battery of a child without regard to knowledge or intent is a potent tool, which sends a powerful message. There is no defense to this crime, except not to have done it, and unfortunately even this is often not enough to result in acquittal, so stigmatic is the accusation itself. Children who can process information, know this. Without an ability on the part of a sentencing judge to apply a statutory mitigator such as that of provocation by the victim to the facts before him or her, perversion of the public policy of protection can be just another milestone in the contest among misguided juveniles to become "as bad as I wanna be." ⁴

⁴Decriminalization [of prostitution] will not help these girls achieve autonomy unless it is accompanied by extralegal remedies in the form of needed social services and by laws that prohibit the exploitation of minors, The former remedies will increase the adolescent's general ability to understand both the nature and consequences of prostitution and its alternatives...[U]less sexually abused adolescents are given emotional support and psychological help, they will remain convinced that they are tainted... Tong, *supra*. 60.

Catharine MacKinnon describes a woman who was a child-victim of incest, who now lives in a community saturated with pornography, and who relives the incest every time she walks by pornography she cannot avoid. MacKinnon concludes the case summary by asking what it means when although one-half to one-third of all women are victims of sexual abuse at sometimes in their lives, "targeted survivors must live in a society in which the rehearsal and celebration and ritual reenactment of our victimization is enjoyed, is an entertainment industry, is arguably a constitutional right?" MacKinnon, *supra*. 184. Respondent's counsel submits that the issue of where children get their images and ideas of themselves, and how best society can protect them will not best be served by denying that they have consented to sex, or by segregating the causes from the consequences of abuse initiated by their own ill-conceived decisions.

The child in the instant case duped the Respondent twice. She "passed" as a woman, and then when he was still so naive as to ask for his money back when she didn't keep her bargain, she really showed him. She called the police.

The Respondent submits that no moral imperative regarding the protection of children is necessarily satisfied by the needless ruination of a man's life over a bad mistake of fact. Rather, based upon the facts of the instant case if and when this child ever does mature and become whole, she will have one fewer ugly memory to surmount, because the sentencing judge used his discretion to fashion an appropriate sentence. Arguably, this consideration of cause and consequence, within the context of the self-victimization depicted by the instant record can be the beginning of understanding and maturity for the troubled child.

Under the facts of the instant case, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in downwardly departing. The trial judge in this case was in a position to see the victim, judge her appearance and maturity, and weigh the credibility of the evidence placed before the court. After doing so here, the trial judge found that this was the "most mitigated" level seven felony that he had ever seen, *and the State agreed*. Here, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in considering record evidence that the Respondent had reasonably believed that his paid companion was of the age of consent, in determining whether to give weight, and how much weight to give the

victim's voluntary participation when crafting an appropriate sentence. The judge determined that the victim was an initiator, willing participant, aggressor and provoker of the offense.

With regards to sentencing, a court is free to believe such witnesses and such testimony, or portion thereof, that it finds credible. *State v. Rife.* Consequently, the record supports the court's reason for departure by a preponderance of the evidence and there is no showing that the trial judge abused his discretion. The Respondent repectfully requests that this Court affirm the holding of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

CONCLUSION

BASED UPON the cases, authorities, and policies cited herein, the respondent requests that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the Fifth Distric Court of Appeal, upholding the trial court's downward departure sentence.